
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AGENDA 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

THURSDAY, 25TH JULY, 2019 – 5.30 PM 
 
 

 
 
 

Members of the Council are summoned to a meeting of the Mid Suffolk District Council at 
King Edmund Chamber - Endeavour House, 8 Russell Road, Ipswich on Thursday, 25th 
July, 2019 at 5.30 pm. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Arthur Charvonia 
Chief Executive 
 

 
 

Public Document Pack





 

 MSDC COUNCIL 
 

DATE: THURSDAY, 25 JULY 2019 
5.30 PM 
 

VENUE: KING EDMUND CHAMBER - 
ENDEAVOUR HOUSE, 8 
RUSSELL ROAD, IPSWICH 
 

 
This meeting will be broadcast live to Youtube and will be capable of repeated viewing. 
The entirety of the meeting will be filmed except for confidential or exempt items. If you 
attend the meeting in person you will be deemed to have consented to being filmed and 
that the images and sound recordings could be used for webcasting/ training purposes.  
 
The Council, members of the public and the press may record/film/photograph or 
broadcast this meeting when the public and the press are not lawfully excluded.   
 

 

PART 1 
MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PRESS AND PUBLIC PRESENT 

 Page(s) 

 
1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
 

2   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS BY COUNCILLORS  
 

 

3   MC/19/11 TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD 
ON 27 JUNE 2019  
 

1 - 10 

4   MC/19/12 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 

11 - 12 

5   MC/19/13 LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
To follow 
 

 

6   TO RECEIVE NOTIFICATION OF PETITIONS IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES  
 
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule No. 11, the Chief 
Executive will report the receipt of any petitions.  There can be no 
debate or comment upon these matters at the Council meeting. 
 

 

7   QUESTIONS BY THE PUBLIC IN ACCORDANCE WITH COUNCIL 
PROCEDURE RULES  
 
The Chairs of Committees to answer any questions from the public 
of which notice has been given no later than midday three clear 
working days before the day of the meeting in accordance with 
Council Procedure Rule 12. 
 

 



 Page(s) 

 

8   QUESTIONS BY COUNCILLORS IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES  
 
The Chairman of the Council, Chairs of Committees and Sub-
Committees and Portfolio Holders to answer any questions on any 
matters in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or 
which affect the District of which due notice has been given in 
accordance with Council Procedure Rule 13. 
 

 

9   MC/19/14 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT  
 
Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

13 - 14 

10   UPDATE ON MSDC POLICE COMMUNITY SUPPORT OFFICERS  
 
Verbal update from Inspector Shawn Wakeling 
 

 

11   MC/19/15 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY POLICY  
 
Councillor Suzie Morley, Leader of the Council 
 

15 - 24 

12   MC/19/16 CAPITAL INVESTMENT FUND COMPANY (CIFCO 
CAPITAL LTD) BUSINESS TRADING AND PERFORMANCE 
REPORT 2018/19 - PART 1  
 
Councillor Gerard Brewster – Chair MSDC (Suffolk Holdings) Ltd 
 

25 - 42 

13   COUNCILLOR APPOINTMENTS  
 

 

14   MOTIONS ON NOTICE  
 

 



 Page(s) 

 

a   Motion on Notice received from Councillor Morley  

To consider the Motion on Notice received from Councillor Morley: 

 
“This Council pledges to: 

1. Declare a climate emergency.  

2. Set up a Task Force, commencing by September 2019, to 
examine ways in which Babergh & Mid Suffolk Councils will respond 
to the climate change challenge on a spend to save basis, with the 
ambition to make Babergh & Mid Suffolk Councils carbon neutral by 
2030.   

3. To work with partners across the county and region, including the 
LEP and the Public Sector Leaders, towards the aspiration of 
making the county of Suffolk carbon neutral by 2030.  

4. To work with Government to a) deliver its 25-year Environment 
Plan and b) increase the powers and resources available to local 
authorities in order to make the 2030 target easier to achieve. 

 
Proposer:  Councillor Suzie Morley  

Seconder: Councillor Jessica Fleming 

 

 



 Page(s) 

 

b   Motion on Notice received from Councillor Eburne  
 

To consider the Motion on Notice received from Councillor Eburne: 
 

Background 
 

Climate change is recognised as the predominant threat to human 
security, necessitating a response from local authorities in their 
community leadership role. Part of that response must come from 
our work in protecting and enhancing the natural habitat of the 
District, which supports biodiversity, including the trees which 
absorb carbon dioxide.  Council has a direct role as a landowner, 
and an indirect role as the Local Planning Authority.  We risk losing 
habitat through lack of detailed conditions on planning permissions 
and sometimes through lack of enforcement of those conditions, 
such as mitigation schemes. 
 

Motion 
 

Council recognises that the accelerating rate of species extinction is 
now a biodiversity emergency, an intrinsic element of the crisis of 
climate change. Species losses over the past century are 100 times 
higher than pre-human background rates.1 These impacts will be 
severely compounded by climate change.2 

 

This Council pledges that: 
 

1.  a task force reviews recognised and potential wildlife corridors 
in the District, and brings forward proposals to enhance these 
corridors.  

2.  additional arboricultural and bio-diversity advisory resources 
are made available, as necessary, to: 

 Support the task force 

 Provide more input to support planning officers  

 Strengthen the role of public realm team 

 provide advice to parishes and other community 
landowners. 

3.  additional resources and biodiversity proposals during 19/20 
would need to be funded from the Growth and Efficiency Fund 
and then considered in preparing the budget for future years. 

 

Proposer:  Councillor Rachel Eburne  
Seconder: Councillor Daniel Pratt 
 
Notes: 
1 Ceballos G, Ehrlich PR, Rodolfo Dirzo R (2017) Population losses and the sixth 
mass extinction. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 114 (30) 
E6089-E6096 
 

2 IPBES. 2019. Global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services 
of the Intergovernmental Science- Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem 
Services. E. S. Brondizio, J. Settele, S. Díaz, and H. T. Ngo (editors). IPBES 
Secretariat, Bonn, Germany 

43 - 44 



 Page(s) 

 

15   RESOLUTION TO EXCLUDE THE PUBLIC  
 
Recommended Motion 
 
That under section 100(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
public be excluded from the meeting for Item 16 on the grounds that 
it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act in the paragraph registered 
against the item. 
 
Note: Information is exempt only if: 
It falls within one of the 7 categories of exempt information in the Act 
and; In all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing 
the information 
 

PART 2 
 

 

16   CONFIDENTIAL APPENDIX A CIFCO CAPITAL LTD BUSINESS 
PLAN 2019/20 AND JOINT O&S CONFIDENTIAL MINUTE 
(Exempt information by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1)  
 
Councillor Gerard Brewster – Chair MSDC (Suffolk Holdings) Ltd 
 

45 - 74 

 
Date and Time of next meeting 
 
Please note that the next meeting is scheduled for Thursday, 26 September 2019 at 5.30 
pm. 
 
Webcasting/ Live Streaming 
 
The Webcast of the meeting will be available to view on the Councils Youtube page: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCSWf_0D13zmegAf5Qv_aZSg  
 
For more information about this meeting, including access arrangements and facilities for 
people with disabilities, please contact Committee Services on: 01473 296472 or Email: 
Committees@baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk 
 
 
 

 
 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCSWf_0D13zmegAf5Qv_aZSg
mailto:Committees@baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk


 

 

Introduction to Public Meetings 
 

Babergh/Mid Suffolk District Councils are committed to Open Government.  The 
proceedings of this meeting are open to the public, apart from any confidential or exempt 
items which may have to be considered in the absence of the press and public. 
 

 
Domestic Arrangements: 
 

 Toilets are situated opposite the meeting room. 

 Cold water is also available outside opposite the room. 

 Please switch off all mobile phones or turn them to silent. 
 

 
Evacuating the building in an emergency:  Information for Visitors: 
 
If you hear the alarm: 
 
1. Leave the building immediately via a Fire Exit and make your way to the Assembly 

Point (Ipswich Town Football Ground). 
 
2. Follow the signs directing you to the Fire Exits at each end of the floor. 
 
3. Do not enter the Atrium (Ground Floor area and walkways).  If you are in the Atrium 

at the time of the Alarm, follow the signs to the nearest Fire Exit. 
 
4. Use the stairs, not the lifts. 
 
5. Do not re-enter the building until told it is safe to do so. 

 

 
 
 



 

MID SUFFOLK DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Minutes of the meeting of the MID SUFFOLK COUNCIL held in the King Edmund 
Chamber - Endeavour House, 8 Russell Road, Ipswich on Thursday, 27 June 2019 
 
PRESENT: 
 
Councillor: Lavinia Hadingham (Chair) 

 
 
Councillors: Gerard Brewster David Burn 
 Terence Carter James Caston 
 Rachel Eburne Paul Ekpenyong 
 John Field Julie Flatman 
 Jessica Fleming Dr Helen Geake 
 Kathie Guthrie Matthew Hicks 
 Barry Humphreys MBE Sarah Mansel 
 John Matthissen Andrew Mellen 
 Richard Meyer Suzie Morley 
 David Muller  Mike Norris 
 Penny Otton Timothy Passmore 
 Stephen Phillips Daniel Pratt 
 Harry Richardson Keith Scarff 
 Andrew Stringer Wendy Turner 
 Rowland Warboys Keith Welham 
 John Whitehead  
 
In attendance: 
  
Officers: Assistant Director - Planning and Communities 

Chief Executive 
Corporate Manager - Strategic Planning 
Professional Lead - Growth and Sustainable Planning 
Corporate Manager - Strategic Planning 
Strategic Director 
Corporate Manager - Democratic Services 
Strategic Director 
Professional Lead - Key Sites and Infrastructure 

 
Apologies: Peter Gould 
 
2 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS BY COUNCILLORS 

 
 2.1 The Monitoring Officer had granted dispensations to all Members for item 

MC/19/7 Draft Joint Local Plan. 
 

2.2 Councillor Welham declared a local no-pecuniary interest for item MC/19/7, 
as a member of the Stowupland Neighbourhood Plan Working Group. 

 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 

3 MC/19/5 TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 20 MAY 2019 
 

 It was RESOLVED:-  
 
That the Minutes of the Annual meeting held on 20 May 2019 be confirmed and 
signed as a true record. 
 

4 MC/19/6 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 

 4.1  The Chair referred to Paper MC/19/6 for her announcements, which were 
NOTED, and invited the Leader to present the Leaders Report. 

  
5 LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 
 5.1  The Leader referred to her tabled paper, Mid Suffolk Leaders Report, and 

responded to questions. 
 

5.2  Councillor Welham referred to the Leisure Contract Working Party and if this 
Group also included other areas such as Stradbroke. 
 

5.3  Councillor Flatman responded by saying that she would take this back to the 
Task and Finish Group for discussion. 
 

5.4  Councillor Eburne enquired when Portfolio Holders’ reports would be 
presented to the Council and if the Leader would report back on the Local 
Government Association’s Annual Conference (LGA) to the Council. 
 

5.5  The Leader responded that she would bring an update on the LGA Annual 
Conference in the next Leader’s Report and that Portfolio Holders’ Reports 
would be brought to Council in due course. 

 
6 TO RECEIVE NOTIFICATION OF PETITIONS IN ACCORDANCE WITH COUNCIL 

PROCEDURE RULES 
 

 6.1  It was stated that the following validated petition was received and would be 
dealt with through the usual planning process. 
 
47 valid signatures regarding planning application DC/19/1558 in Thornham 
Magna. 

 
7 QUESTIONS BY THE PUBLIC IN ACCORDANCE WITH COUNCIL PROCEDURE 

RULES 
 

 7.1 None received. 
 

8 QUESTIONS BY COUNCILLORS IN ACCORDANCE WITH COUNCIL 
PROCEDURE RULES 
 

 8.1 None received. 
 

Page 2



 

9 MC/19/7 BABERGH AND MID SUFFOLK DRAFT JOINT LOCAL PLAN: 
PREFERRED OPTIONS 
 

 9.1  The Chair stated that the Draft Joint Local Plan could not be changed apart 
from typographical and factual errors and Members should focus on the 
policies within the report and avoid getting into specific issues relating to 
Members’ wards.  Such issues should be raised as part of the consultation. 
 

9.2  Councillor David Burn, Cabinet Member for Planning introduced report 
MC/19/7 Babergh and Mid Suffolk Draft Joint Local Plan: Preferred Options 
and summarised the key points in the report. 

 
9.3  Councillor Burn suggested that some Members felt that the report was not 

ready to be published, however the Council could not afford any more 
delaying and any issues could be raised during the consultation period, 
which Councillor Burn proposed to cover ten weeks instead of the statutory 
six weeks. 

 
9.4  Councillor Burn then MOVED the amended recommendations, which 

Councillor Brewster SECONDED. 
 

9.5  Councillor Brewster said that the Joint Local Plan had been in preparation 
for a long time and that the document was as much up to date as possible. 

 
9.6  Councillor Eburne PROPOSED the following amendment: 

 
That the Corporate Manager – Strategic Planning, before the non-strategic 
Place and Allocations Policies are finalised for consultation, reviews and, 
where it would not necessitate further viability or sustainability appraisal, 
amends or clarifies the proposals maps or supporting text in consultation 
with any ward member that raises concerns about their ward before Noon of 
Friday 5th July 2019. 

She was also concerned that data and not Neighbourhood Plans had been 
the basis for the Joint Local Plan. 

 
9.7  Councillor Stringer SECONDED the amendment. 

 
9.8  The Chair put the amendment to Councillor Burn, the proposer of the 

Recommendations, who accepted the amendment. 
 

9.9  Councillor Burn assured Councillor Eburne that the Joint Local Plan was 
based on both evidence and data and he hope that the amendment would 
alleviate any concerns regarding this. 

 
9.10  The amendment was PUT to Members and was CARRIED. 

 
 
 
 

Page 3



 

9.11  Councillor Passmore stated it was important to listen to the communities, 
some who had expressed concerns about water resources in area with 
larger developments.  

9.12  However, there were villages who welcomed developments and others who 
was concerned about the opportunities for local first times buyers.  It was 
important that the Council delivered a Joint Local Plan responding to these 
issues. He was afraid the consultation period would not be meaningful. 

9.13  Councillor Stringer stated that by publishing a flawed set of maps the 
Council had ignored the wishes of the communities and that there was a risk 
of damaging the relationship with Parish Councils as a result of this. 

9.14  The Assistant Director for Planning and Communities responded to the 
issues raised and assured Members that the work on the Joint Local Plan 
had been undertaken in accordance with, not just planning policies but other 
policies and strategies concerning both the Council and communities.   

9.15  Councillor Burn, Cabinet Member for Planning responded by stressing the 
importance of working closely and collaboratively with Members and 
communities.  It was possible to update a few maps in the Joint Local Plan 
to ensure that for instance, developments did not take place on green sites. 

9.16  Councillor Field thought the Joint Local Plan was long overdue and that this 
had left the Council exposed to speculative developers. However, he 
supported the plan despite having reservations regarding some of the issues 
surrounding the Plan.  This included that some developments with approved 
planning permissions had not been included within the village boundaries. 
Also, rejected developments were shown as proposals without indication of 
where they were in the planning process.  This could provide an impression 
that the Council wished for such developments to be progressed.  He was 
unsure if the extension to the 5th July 2019 would allow enough time for 
Members to submit their comments. 

9.17  Councillor Carter raised issues concerning the lack of fundamental 
development in communities.  The Council needed to address the need for 
social housing. He felt that extensive resources and funding had been spent 
on developing a Joint Local Plan which was outdated and did not include 
evidence from local communities. 

9.18  The Corporate Manager for Strategic Planning reminded Members that the 
draft Joint Local Plan was first presented to Member in April 2018 and that 
sites that had been granted planning permission since then were not 
included in the plans, unless they had been included in the Strategic Plan. 
He then clarified the process for sites being included in the Joint Local Plan. 

9.19  Councillor Eburne raised concerns regarding Neighbourhood Plans, which 
had been produced by local communities and whom now felt they had been 
ignored as these plans had not been taken into account in the Joint Local 
Plan. However, she would still support the Joint Local Plan. 

Page 4



 

9.20  Councillor Geake enquired how much weight the Joint Local Plan had in the 
planning application. 

9.21  The Professional Lead for Growth and Sustainable Planning explained that 
currently the Draft Joint Local Plan carried little weight until it was 
progressed further. 

9.22  Councillor Guthrie thought that the Joint Local Plan should have been 
published before the election and that the maps were made available to 
Members too late. 

9.23  Councillor Burn commented on the issues raised and though a lot of useful 
comments had been raised during the debate.  He assured Members that 
Neighbourhood Plans would carry valued when the Joint Local Plan 
progressed to the next stage of the process. 

9.24  The Corporate Manager for Strategic Planning explained that quite a few 
Neighbourhood Plans had been produced without indicative development 
figures and that this was now being addressed. It was anticipated that 
further work would be undertaken with the Neighbourhood Plan groups as 
the Joint Local Plan progressed.  He also advised Members that some open 
spaces would be protected by policy. 

9.25  The recommendations as amended were PUT to Members and the vote was 
CARRIED. 

It was RESOLVED: - 

1. That the Babergh and Mid Suffolk Draft Joint Local Plan: Preferred 
Options Document (June 2019) (appendix A) be approved for a ten-week 
consultation 

 
2. That the Corporate Manager – Strategic Planning, before the non-strategic 

Place and Allocations Policies are finalised for consultation, reviews and, 
where it would not necessitate further viability or sustainability appraisal, 
amends or clarifies the proposals maps or supporting text in consultation 
with any ward member that raises concerns about their ward before Noon 
of Friday 5th July 2019. 

 
3. That the Corporate Manager – Strategic Planning, in consultation with the 

Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Planning, be authorised to 
make consequential amendments to the consultation document arising 
from: 

 
(i) removal of drafting and technical errors and typing mistakes, and; 

(ii) improvements to the layout of the document. 

Page 5



 

 
10 MC/19/8 PUBLICATION OF THE MID SUFFOLK HOUSING DELIVERY TEST 

ACTION PLAN 
 

 11.1  Councillor Burn, Cabinet Member for Planning introduced report MC/19/8, 
Publication of the Mid Suffolk Housing Delivery Test Action Plan.  
 

11.2  Councillor Burn MOVED recommendations 3.1 and 3.2, which was 
SECONDED by Councillor Flatman. 

 
11.3  Councillor Stringer enquired who were to undertake the work detailed from 

page 126 to 135 in the Housing Delivery Test Action Plan. 
 
11.4  The Professional Lead for Key Sites and Infrastructure explained that 

various team would be involved in this work including the Strategic Planning 
Development Management Team and the Strategic Housing Team. 

 
11.5  Councillor Mansel questioned Table 1 on page 135 of the report and whether 

the figures for school sites also included lapsed planning permissions. 
 

11.6  The Professional Lead for Growth and Sustainable Planning responded that 
lapsed planning permissions would be renewed if it was considered that the 
development would be deliverable. 

 
11.7  Councillor Otton referred to the bullet points on page 125 of the Action Plan 

and sought reassurance that the Council had all the relevant data available 
and that it was accurate. She thought it was important that Members knew, 
who the developers were and where they had developed properties.   

 
11.8  Councillor Otton also hoped that due consideration would be exercised in 

relation to approval of Section 106.   
 

11.9  In response to Councillor Carter’s question, the Assistant Director for 
Planning and Communities detailed the various policies, data and work 
undertaken by officers to enable the action plan to be achieved.  He 
suggested to Members that further details could be discussed outside the 
meeting to ensure all Councillors had confidence in the process. 

 
11.10  Councillor Scarff commented that he felt there were too many actions in the 

Action Plan for stalled sites and suggested that a six months update be 
brought to Council. 

 
11.11  Officers responded that this would be included in the Portfolio Holders’ 

reports to Council. 
 

11.12  Councillor Eburne stated that the Housing Delivery Action Plan had been a 
requirement made by the Government.  She asked for assurance from the 
Leader and the Chief Executive Officer that there were enough staff 
resources to undertake the work required before sites were stalled.   

 

Page 6



 

11.13  The Chief Executive responded that there were enough resources to 
undertake the work required. 

 
11.14  Councillor Stringer added that the failure to deliver houses were noticeable 

locally through the Planning committees. He was also concerned about Staff 
resources and how this would affect planning permissions. He PROPOSED 
an amendment to Recommendations 3.1 and 3.2 to read as follows: 

 
That sufficient resources be found to ensure that the outcome detailed in the 
Mid Suffolk Housing Delivery Test Action Plan can be meet. 

 
11.15  Councillor Carter SECONDED the amendment. 

 
11.16  The amendment was put to the proposer of the recommendations Councillor 

Burn, who accepted the amendment. 
 

11.17  The amendment was PUT to Members and the vote was CARRIED. 
 

It was RESOLVED: - 
 

That sufficient resources be found to ensure that the outcome detailed in the 
Mid Suffolk Housing Delivery Test Action Plan can be meet be included in the 
recommendations. 

11.18  The Assistant Director for Planning and Communities clarified that the 
consultant report detailed the length of planning applications. He explained 
how this was measured and recorded to provide the date used in the Action 
Plan. 

 
11.19  Councillor Passmore asked that the eight points identified in the Action Plan, 

including indicative dates, be included in the Annual Review. 
 

11.20  Councillor Mellen suggested that the Acton Plan be brought to the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee at the end of year. 

 
11.21  Councillor Welham expressed concern that planning applications were 

delayed by Section 106 applications and asked that enough resources were 
allocated for both the planning and the legal part of the application process. 
He asked that people with different skills-sets were appointed to ensure that 
current progress made for planning applications was maintained.  

 
11.22  The amended recommendations were PUT to Members and the vote was 

CARRIED. 
 

It was RESOLVED: 
 

That the Mid Suffolk Housing Delivery Test Action Plan (June 2019) is 
approved for publication.  

 

Page 7



 

That the Corporate Manager – Strategic Planning, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Planning, be authorised to make consequential 
amendments to the document arising from any drafting errors and typing 
mistakes. 

That sufficient resources be found to ensure that the outcome detailed in the 
Mid Suffolk Housing Delivery Test Action Plan can be meet. 

11 MC/19/9 STOWUPLAND NEIGHBOURHOOD [DEVELOPMENT] PLAN 
 

 11.1  Councillor Burn, Cabinet Member for Planning, introduced report MC/19/9 
and provided Members with a brief overview of the key points in the report.  
 

11.2  Councillor Burn MOVED recommendations 3.1 and 3.2, which was 
SECONDED by Councillor Welham. 

 
11.3 By a unanimous vote 
 
It was RESOLVED: - 

 
That the Stowupland Neighbourhood Plan be formally ‘made’ (adopted) as 
part of the District Council’s Development Plan and be used to help determine 
planning applications where relevant. 

That the Decision Statement (Appendix 1) be published with immediate effect. 

12 MC/19/10 NOMINATIONS FOR APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS TO THE BOARD 
OF MSDC (SUFFOLK HOLDINGS) LTD 
 

 12.1  Councillor Brewster, Chair of MSDC (Suffolk Holdings) Ltd introduced Paper 
MC/19/10 and MOVED the recommendation 3.1, which was SECONDED by 
Councillor Guthrie. 
 

12.2  Councillor Eburne queried if the vacant positions had been advertised and 
whether the positions were politically balance. 

 
12.3  Councillor Brewster responded that the positions were elected by the Board 

of MSDC (Suffolk Holdings) Ltd. and were not required to be politically 
balanced. 

 
12.4  Councillor Hicks commented that the proposed Councillors had the skills and 

dedication required for the positions. 
 
12.5  Councillor Field felt he had little knowledge of the skill set of the proposed 

Councillors. 
 
12.6  The recommendations were PUT to Members and the vote was CARRIED. 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



 

It was RESOLVED: - 
 
That Council approve the appointment of Councillor Peter Gould, Councillor 
Rick Meyer and Councillor Paul Ekpenyong as Directors of MSDC (Suffolk 
Holdings) Ltd. 
 

13 APPOINTMENT OF COUNCILLORS TO THE SHARED REVENUES 
PARTNERSHIP COMMITTEE 
 

 13.1  The Monitoring Officer introduced the report and advised that, in accordance 
with the joint arrangements established with Babergh District Council and 
Ipswich Borough Council, Council was asked to appoint two Cabinet 
Members and two substitutes to serve on the Committee for the current 
municipal year and that the political balance rule did not apply to Mid 
Suffolk’s appointees. 
 

13.2  Councillor Hadingham, Chair of the Council, MOVED that Councillors Suzie 
Morley and John Whitehead be appointed to the Shared Revenues 
Partnership, which was SECONDED by Councillor Fleming. 

 
13.3  The vote was PUT to Members and the vote was CARRIED. 
 
It was RESOLVED: 
 
That Councillor Suzie Morley and Councillor John Whitehead be appointed to 
the Shared Revenues Partnership Committee. 
 

14 COUNCILLOR APPOINTMENTS 
 

 14.1 Members were asked to note the following appointments: 
 

Development Control Committee A: 
 
Richard Meyer (replacing Harry Richardson) 
 
Development Control B: 
 
Harry Richardson (replacing Richard Meyer) 

 
14.2  The Chair then referred to the tabled paper, Appointments to the Suffolk Joint 

Standards Board and Appointment of Representatives on Outside 
Bodies/Partnerships 2019/20 and asked for a proposer. 

 
14.3 Councillor Otton MOVED the appointments, which were SECONDED by 

Councillor Humphreys. 
 

It was RESOLVED: - 
 
1. That Councillors Paul Ekpenyong, John Matthissen and Mike Norris be 

appointed to the Suffolk Joint Standards Board. 

Page 9



 

 
2. That the following Councillors be appointed as Representatives on 

Outside bodies/Partnerships for 2019/20: 
 

NAME OF BODY OR PANEL NUMBER OF 
REPRESENTATIVES 
TO BE APPOINTED 

NAME OF MEMBER NOMINATED  

EAST SUFFOLK INTERNAL 
DRAINAGE BOARD   
   

3 
James Caston 

John Field  
Keith Welham 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
ASSOCIATION ASSEMBLY  Observer: Rachel Eburne 

MID SUFFOLK DOMESTIC 
ABUSE FORUM  1 Stephen Phillips 

SUFFOLK FLOOD RISK 
MANAGEMENT SCRUTINY SUB 
COMMITTEE 
 
2 x per annum various 
locations 

1 (+ 1 substitute) 
James Caston 

(TBC) 

SUFFOLK JOINT EMERGENCY 
PLANNING POLICY PANEL   
 
2x per annum, Endeavour 
House     

1 (+ 1 substitute) 
Penny Otton  

(Andrew Mellen) 

SUFFOLK POLICE AND CRIME 
PANEL 

1 
Places are allocated 
by SCC County-wide 
on a political basis.  
MSDC currently has 
to appoint a Green. 

Keith Welham 
(Substitute: Terence Carter) 

SUFFOLK VOILENCE AND 
ABUSE PARTNERSHIP 1 Stephen Phillips 

WESTERN SUFFOLK 
COMMUNITY SAFETY 
PARTNERSHIP (WSCSP) 
 
4 x per annum a.m. various 
locations on a rotational basis  

2    Voting rights 
Harry Richardson 

Sarah Mansel 

 

 
 
The business of the meeting was concluded at 7.08 pm. 
 
 
 

…………………………………….. 
Chair 

 

Page 10



MC/19/12
MID SUFFOLK DISTRICT COUNCIL CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS

COUNCIL - 25 JULY 2019

EVENT LOCATION DATE CHAIRMAN
VICE 

CHAIR

JULY 2019

Citizens Advice Bureau Visit with 

Leader of the Council
Stowmarket 15-Jul ✓

Felixstowe Mayor's Reception

Harvest House   

Cobbold Road 

Felixstowe

19-Jul ✓

Stowmarket Mayor's Civic Service 

and Reception

Salvation Army Citadel  

Stowmarket
21-Jul ✓

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



MID SUFFOLK DISTRICT COUNCIL 

TO:  Council REPORT NUMBER: MC/19/14 

FROM: Chair of Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee DATE OF MEETING: 25 July 2019 

 
Report to Council 25 July 2019 
From Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

The newly appointed committee have held one meeting in Stowmarket and one Joint Meeting with 
Babergh Overview and Scrutiny members.  In addition, the Chairs of the two committees, along with 
Jan Robinson and Henriette Holloway, attended a symposium at which the new Government 
Guidelines on Overview and Scrutiny were discussed. 

The Guidelines are mandatory and cover a wide range of topics, including culture, resourcing, power 
to access information, and planning the work of the committee.  Mid Suffolk and Babergh Scrutiny 
Committees were already working very much within the guidelines – this is largely due to the 
excellent guidance given by Officers - and there will need to be no significant changes to the way 
we operate.  Emphasis is placed upon the culture of the organisation; the Scrutiny Committee should 
be seen as a ‘critical friend’ and I believe that is the case in BMSDC.  
The guidelines can be found by following this link:  
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/f

ile/800048/Statutory_Guidance_on_Overview_and_Scrutiny_in_Local_and_Combined_Authoritie

s.pdf 

Mid Suffolk Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting held on 27 June 2019 

We have a number of members new to Scrutiny this year, so our meeting started with some general 
training and then specific guidance around Councillor Call-ins and Councillor Call for Action. Jan 
Robinson and Henriette Holloway delivered the training, which was greatly appreciated. 

We then developed our Work Plan for the next few months.  Topics will include: Disabled Facilities 
Grant; bringing empty homes back into use; Needham Lake development; Housing Delivery Test 
Action Plan; effectiveness of Citizens’ Advice Bureaux; Five-year housing land supply; and Staff 
turnover and welfare. 

Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting held on 1 July 2019 

Members received a report on the CIFCO trading activity and performance for the year to the end 
of April 2019, and were asked to make comment on the draft CIFCO business plan for 2019/20.  The 
first £25 million was fully invested by March 2019, two months later than target.  Yield from the 
investment was very close to target, enabling an interest rate of 5% to be paid to MSDC (Suffolk 
Holdings) Ltd.  Current investments are estimated to return to MSDC a net income after borrowing 
costs in excess of £676,000 in the current year. 

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for 2019/20 were discussed.  The CIFCO board confirmed that the 
current High Street assets are performing well.  However, future acquisitions using the further 
investment of £25 million will focus more on offices and industrial properties and less on retail.  As 
new assets are acquired in the period up to April 2021, return on the £50 million investment may 
reduce due to the costs associated with the acquisitions.  One of the KPIs sets an equivalent yield 
target of 6%. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 9

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/800048/Statutory_Guidance_on_Overview_and_Scrutiny_in_Local_and_Combined_Authorities.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/800048/Statutory_Guidance_on_Overview_and_Scrutiny_in_Local_and_Combined_Authorities.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/800048/Statutory_Guidance_on_Overview_and_Scrutiny_in_Local_and_Combined_Authorities.pdf


Members agreed to endorse the report and the investment approach taken by CIFCO, and to ask 
the Councils to take note of the comments made during the discussion when considering the CIFCO 
2019/20 Business Plan. 

 
Keith Welham 
Chair, Mid Suffolk Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Page 14



MID SUFFOLK DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

TO:  Council REPORT NUMBER: MC/19/15 

FROM: Councillor Suzie Morley, 
Leader of the Council 

DATE OF MEETING: 25 July 2019 

OFFICER: Kate Parnum – Project 
and Research Officer 
(lead officer for equality 
and diversity) 

KEY DECISION REF NO. N/A 

 
EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY POLICY 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 

1.1 To consider the Equality and Diversity Policy which is designed to meet the Council’s 
responsibilities under the Equalities Act 2010 and to continue to embed best practice.  
This policy is in line with the Council’s corporate priorities and underpins their 
delivery. 

2. OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Two options are to be considered: 

2.1 To continue with the current position of delivering services under the direct auspices 
of the Equality Act 2010 and its supporting documents. The Council will continue to 
meet its responsibilities under the Act and specifically in regard to the public sector 
duty which is the key duty for Councils. 

2.2 To embed best practice of equality and diversity across the Council through an 
Equality and Diversity Policy.  This will cement activity, provide a framework and offer 
straightforward guidance to all staff to ensure that the Council’s responsibilities are 
met under the Equality Act 2010.  The policy will over arch supporting documents to 
help facilitate the Councils duties. 

3. RECOMMENDATION 

That Full Council discuss the Equality and Diversity Policy (Appendix A) and 
recommend to Cabinet that it be adopted. 

REASON FOR DECISION 

To recommend Cabinet adopts the Equality and Diversity Policy which meets the 
Council’s responsibilities under the Equality Act 2010.  

 
4. KEY INFORMATION 

4.1 The Equality Act 2010 brought together over 116 separate pieces of legislation into 
one single Act. This new Act provided the legal framework to protect the rights of 
individuals in advancing equality of opportunity for all.   

Page 15

Agenda Item 11



Within the 116 separate pieces of legislation it included nine main pieces of legislation 
including the Equal Pay Act 1970, Sex Discrimination Act 1975, the Race Relations 
Act 1975, the Disability Discrimination Act 1995, the Employment Equality (Religion 
or Belief) Regulations 2003, the Employment Equality (Sexual Orientation) 
Regulations 2003, the Employment Equality (Age) Regulations 2006, the Equality Act 
2006, Part 2, and the Equality Act (Sexual Orientation) Regulations 2007. 

4.2 The Equality Act 2010 introduces the public sector equality duty requiring public 
authorities, in the exercise of their functions, to have due regard to the need to: 

 Eliminate determination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct that 
is prohibited by or under the Act. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and people who do not share it. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who do not share it.  

4.3  Additional guidance documents underpin the draft Equality and Diversity Policy in 
relation to embedding equalities through policy-making and in service delivery.  This 
is to ensure that everyone in the Council is meeting the statutory equality 
requirements. 

4.4 A stand-alone Equality and Diversity Policy is considered important for a number of 
reasons: 

 Since the Equality Act 2010 was first introduced there has been a number of 
additional changes which further expand the rights of individuals to be treated 
equally and fairly.  

 The Council is committed to providing equality of opportunity for people, and for 
communities, that are becoming more diverse.  

 In the workforce, everyone needs to feel included and to play their part in making 
the Councils great places to live work and visit.  

4.5 The aims of the Equality and Diversity Policy are to: 

a) Promote equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and people who do not share it.  

b) Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and bullying.  

c) Promote understanding, tackle prejudice and foster positive relations between 
different communities.  

d) Make reasonable adjustments.  

e) Take steps to remove barriers or inequalities that may already exist.  

f) Promote a workforce culture that values and respects difference.  

g) Engage with local communities fairly and proportionately  

Page 16



h) Encourage people who share a protected characteristic to participate in public life 
or in any other activity in which their participation is disproportionately low.  

4.6 To ensure that the Council can demonstrate discharging its responsibilities under the 
public sector equality duty, there is a duty to publish one or more equality objectives 
at least every four years, these are currently under review. 

4.7 Equality screening and Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs) are in use across the 
organisation as an effective way of considering, informing and consulting on any 
impacts, of proposed changes, to people according to their characteristic.  They 
enable the Council to demonstrate that due regard has been paid in coming to key 
decisions. 

4.8 The Council’s recruitment policy ensures that the Council doesn’t treat anyone less 
favourably on the grounds of any protected characteristics except when such 
treatment is within the law and determined by lawful requirements. 

5 LINKS TO JOINT STRATEGIC PLAN 

5.1 The Equality and Diversity Policy supports and embeds the Council’s statutory 
equality requirements in the delivery of the Joint Strategic Plan. 

6 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  

6.1  There are no financial implications arising from the policy as there are no additional 
requirements on any service within the Council.   

7 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 The Equality Act 2010 and the associated public sector duty is a basic requirement 
of the Council which eliminates unlawful conduct, advances equality of opportunity 
and fosters good relations between people from different groups. The Equality and 
Diversity Policy isn’t a legal requirement but provides officers of the Council with 
guidance to ensure statutory equality requirements are met. 

7.2 Information collected to monitor equality and fairness includes personal data. 
Therefore, the council’s policy on this activity must comply with the current data 
protection legislation, namely the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) 
(2016/679) and the Data Protection Act 2018. 

7.3 The GDPR sets out how personal information can be used by government, 
companies and other organisations and places a strong emphasis on being 
accountable for and transparent about our lawful basis for processing data. 

8 RISK MANAGEMENT 

8.1 This report does not link to any of the Council’s significant risks, however it does link 
to Risk No.5G09 on the Business Support Operational Risk Register as below: 

 

 

 

Page 17



Risk Description Likelihood Impact Mitigation Measures 

If we do not implement 
our duties within the 
Equality Act 2010, then 
our services may not be 
inclusive of people with 
protected characteristics 
and may not 
demonstrate 'due regard' 
within our decision-
making processes 
leading to reputational 
risk’ 

3 3  Equality and Diversity 
Policy.   

 Objectives under review 

 Effective screening and 
Equality Impact Assessments 

 Transparency of suppliers of 
our services having 'due 
regard'.   

 Training of staff and 
Councillors. 

 
9 CONSULTATIONS 

9.1 This policy underpins the Equality Act 2010 and hence no external consultation is 
required.  Consultations will be undertaken during the review of the Councils equality 
objectives. 

10 EQUALITY ANALYSIS 

10.1 An Equality Impact Assessment screening has been completed and there are no 
impacts on any of the protected characteristics. 

11 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

11.1 There are no environmental implications in recommending Cabinet to approve this 
policy. 

12 APPENDICES  

Title Location 

(a) Equality and Diversity Policy Attached  

(b) Equality Impact Assessment Attached 

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS  

The Equality Act 2010 and the essential guide to the public sector equality duty.  

Page 18



Appendix A 

Equality and Diversity Policy 
 

 
 
1. Introduction and scope  
 
1.1 Babergh and Mid Suffolk District Councils are committed to providing equality of 

opportunity for people and communities. We respect and value difference in the 
districts and across our workforce, and we want everyone to feel included, live 
in an environment of good health and wellbeing and be able to play their part in 
making Babergh and Mid Suffolk great places to live, work and visit.  

 
1.2 We do not tolerate unlawful discrimination, harassment or victimisation in 

service delivery or employment on the grounds of any protected characteristic:  
 

 Age  

 Disability  

 Race/ethnicity  

 Religion or belief  

 Sex  

 Gender reassignment  

 Sexual orientation  

 Marriage or civil partnership  

 Pregnancy or maternity  
 
1.3 We will not treat anyone less favourably than any other, on the grounds of any 

protected characteristic, except when such treatment is within the law and determined 
by lawful requirements.  

 
1.4 In adopting the aims of this policy, we will:  
 

 Promote equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and people who do not share it  

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and bullying  

 Promote understanding, tackle prejudice and foster positive relations between 
different communities  

 Make reasonable adjustments  

 Take steps to remove barriers or inequalities that may already exist  

 Promote a workforce culture that values and respects difference  

 Engage with local communities fairly and proportionately  

 Encourage people who share a protected characteristic to participate in public 
life or in any other activity in which their participation is disproportionately low.  

 

2. Accessibility and Reasonable adjustments 
 
2.1  We are committed to providing public services and a workforce environment that can 

be accessed, understood and used to the greatest extent possible by all people 
regardless of their ability or disability.  

 

Page 19



2 

2.2  When reviewing or redesigning our public services or workforce environment (or any 
building, product or service in that environment, such as premises, technology, 
information, communication and culture) we will be guided by the following:  

 
 Provide the same means of use to enable access for all users: identical 

whenever possible; equivalent when not  
 Avoid segregating or stigmatizing any users  
 Provisions for privacy, security and safety shall be equally available to all users  
 Ensure dignity in use for all users.  

 
2.3 Where something the Council does places a person at a substantial disadvantage, we 

will take all reasonable steps to try to avoid that disadvantage. This may mean 
changing the way we work, providing extra equipment or removing physical or other 
barriers.  

 

3. Discharging our responsibilities under the Public Sector Equality Duty 
 
3.1 When exercising our public functions, we will have due regard to the Public Sector 

Equality Duty.  At least every four years, we will publish one or more equality 
objectives. Our objectives are published on our website and they are found here.  We 
will maintain and publish annual information which shows our compliance with the 
Public Sector Equality Duty. As there are over 150 employees at Babergh and Mid 
Suffolk District Councils the Act requires us to publish a workforce profile each year, 
which can be found here.  We also publish service reports on the protected 
characteristics annually, which can be found here. 

 
4. Equality impact assessments 
 
4.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EQIA) should be undertaken for any new strategy, policy, 

project, contract, engagement, consultation, decision or function or substantive change to 
an existing policy or strategy. 

 
4.2  In particular, as part of the equality impact assessment, direction should be sought on 

the minimum and maximum considerations that could be applied – to enable decision-
makers to consider the most reasonable approach in the circumstances, taking all 
relevant factors into account - such as available resources; demand and future 
proofing.  

 
4.3  It will not always be possible to adopt the course of action that will best promote 

accessibility for all. However, equality impact assessments enable informed decisions 
to be made, that consider every opportunity to minimise disadvantage.  

 
4.4 Guidance on equality impact assessments is available here. 
 

5. Staff professional development  
 
5.1 We have a separate recruitment policy to ensure that, when we employ, we do not 

treat anyone less favourably than any other, on the grounds of any protected 
characteristic, except when such treatment is within the law and determined by lawful 
requirements.    

 

Page 20

https://www.midsuffolk.gov.uk/communities/equality-and-diversity/
https://www.midsuffolk.gov.uk/communities/equality-and-diversity/specific-duties/
https://www.midsuffolk.gov.uk/communities/equality-and-diversity/specific-duties/
https://suffolknet.sharepoint.com/sites/connect/equalityanddiversity/SitePages/Equality%20and%20Diversity.aspx


3 

5.2 All new staff undertake induction training which includes a module on behaviour and 
conduct expectations (standards at work). All managers undertake a further module to 
support their role in respect of equality and diversity and ensure that our aims are 
achieved 

 
5.3  All staff are required to complete the e-learning modules below on equality and 

diversity within their first six months of employment:  
 

 The Equality Act 2010  

 Equality in the Workplace  

 Implementing reasonable adjustments  
 
5.4  Staff can access these modules via Learning Hub.  
 

6.  Who this policy affects 
 
6.1 This policy affects elected members and all workers including employees, consultants, 

temporary workers, agency staff and other third parties working on behalf of Babergh 
and Mid Suffolk District Council. It also applies to suppliers, sub-contractors and 
agencies in our supply chain.  

 
6.2 This policy applies to (but is not limited to) the planning, design, operation, 

construction and delivery of services, the provision of goods, facilities and services, 
exercising of public functions, , conditions of service, benefits, facilities and pay, 
training and development, opportunities for promotion, conduct at work , and 
procedures and guidance.   The equality and diversity of recruitment, selection and 
termination of employment is covered by the recruitment policy. 

 
6.3 We expect all staff to take responsibility for familiarising themselves with this policy 

and conducting themselves in an appropriate manner. Staff are expected to engage 
proactively in the implementation of this policy. 

 
7. Relevant legislation  
 
7.1 In implementing this policy, we will have regard to our legal obligations under relevant 

legislation, including the Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty.  
 

8. Relevant policies, action plans and guidance 
 
8.1 The following HR policies provide further guidance about implementing equality, 

diversity and inclusion in the workplace:  

 

 Transgender Action Plan  

 Transgender Guidance 

 Flexible Working Policy 

 Dress Code Policy 

 Equality and Diversity Employment Policy 

 Harassment and Bullying Policy 

 Recruitment Policy 

 People Strategy (in development) 

 

Page 21



4 

9. Communication 
 
9.1 This policy will be made available via Babergh and Mid Suffolk District Councils 

website and intranet.  
 
9.2 On Babergh and Mid Suffolk District Councils website we publish our workforce report 

and service reports annually.  

 
10. Complaints  
 
10.1 We regard any breach of this policy as a serious matter to be dealt with through 

agreed procedures and this may result in disciplinary action. We encourage anyone 
who has a complaint concerning a breach of this policy to bring this to Babergh and 
Mid Suffolk District Councils’ attention. 

 
11. Further Information 
 
11.1 For further information please contact: equalities@baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk 
 

12. Review 
 
12.1 We will review the terms of this policy and any associated codes of practice and 

guidance in 2022.  
 
 

Page 22

mailto:equalities@baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk


Appendix B 
Equality Impact Assessment (EQIA) 

Initial Screening Form 
 

 
Screening determines whether the policy has any relevance for equality, ie is there any impact 
on one or more of the 9 protected characteristics as defined by the Equality Act 2010. These 
are: 

• Age 
• Disability 
• Gender reassignment 
• Marriage and civil partnership* 
• Pregnancy and maternity 
• Race 
• Religion or belief (including lack of belief) 
• Sex 
• Sexual orientation 

 
 

1. Policy/service/function title  
 

 

Equality and Diversity Policy 
 

2. Lead officer (responsible for the 
policy/service/function) 
 
 
 

Kate Parnum 

3. Is this a new or existing 
policy/service/function? 

New  
 
   

 

4. What exactly is proposed? (Describe the 
policy/service/ function and the changes that 
are being planned?) 

The Equality and Diversity Policy is designed to 
meet the Council’s responsibilities under the 
Equalities Act 2010 and to continue to embed best 
practice.  This policy is in line with the Council’s 
corporate priorities and underpins their delivery. 

5. Why? (Give reasons why these changes 
are being introduced) 

To embed best practice of equality and diversity 
across the Council through an Equality and 
Diversity Policy.  This will cement activity, provide a 
framework and offer straightforward guidance to all 
staff to ensure that the Council’s responsibilities are 
met under the Equality Act 2010.  The policy will 
over arch supporting documents to help facilitate 
the Councils duties. 

6. How will it be implemented? (Describe the 
decision-making process, timescales, 
process for implementation)  

The Equality and Diversity Policy for comment and 
debate at Full Council (July 2019) then for Cabinet 
(August 2019) to decide whether to adopt the 
Policy.  

Page 23



 

7. Is there potential for differential impact 
(negative or positive) on any of the 
protected characteristics? 

No – the policy is designed to ensure that the 
Council’s responsibilities and duties are met in line 
with the Equality Act 2010 and the Public Sector 
Equality Duty. 
  
 
 

8. Is there the possibility of discriminating 
unlawfully, directly or indirectly, against 
people from any protected characteristic? 
 

No – the Policy is in line with responsibilities and 
duties within the Equality Act 2010 and the Public 
Sector Equality Duty. 
 

9. Could there be an effect on relations 
between certain groups? 
 

No – the Policy is in line with responsibilities and 
duties within the Equality Act 2010 and the Public 
Sector Equality Duty. 

10. Does the policy explicitly involve, or 
focus on a particular equalities group, 
i.e. because they have particular needs? 
 

No – The policy considers all protected groups and 
ensures that the Council responsibilities and duties 
within the Equality Act 2010 and the Public Sector 
Equality Duty. 

If the answers are ‘no’ to questions 7-10 then there is no need to proceed to a full impact 
assessment and this form should then be signed off as appropriate.  
 
If ‘yes’ then a full impact assessment must be completed. 
 

Authors signature:  Kate Parnum 
 
Date of completion: 11th February 2019 
 

Any queries concerning the completion of this form should be addressed to the Equality and 
Diversity Lead. 
* Public sector duty does not apply to marriage and civil partnership. 
 

Page 24



 

MID SUFFOLK DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

TO:  Council REPORT NUMBER: MC/19/16 

FROM: Cllr Gerard Brewster – 
Chair of MSDC (Suffolk 
Holdings) Ltd  

DATE OF MEETING:  25 July 2019 

OFFICER: Emily Atack – Assistant 
Director Assets and 
Investments, Managing 
Director CIFCO  

KEY DECISION REF NO. N/A 

 
CAPITAL INVESTMENT FUND COMPANY (‘CIFCO CAPITAL LTD’) BUSINESS 

TRADING AND PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018/2019 
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 

1.1 This report presents the trading activity for CIFCO Capital Ltd (CIFCO) for 2018/19. 
Appended to the report (Confidential Appendix A) is the draft business plan 2019/20 
which subject to Council approval will form the basis of CIFCO trading in 2019/20. 

2. OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

2.1 The options available are to approve the 2019/20 CIFCO business plan for its 
adoption by CIFCO or to recommend amendments to the business plan.  

2.2 The business plan had been prepared by the board of CIFCO in consultation with its 
fund managers Jones Lang LaSalle. The Business Plan has been approved by the 
Holding Companies and endorsed by the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

3. RECOMMENDATIONS 

3.1 That Council notes CIFCO Capital Ltd trading activity and performance for the year 
to end April 2019 

3.2 That Council approves CIFCO Capital Ltd’s 2019/20 business plan for adoption by 
CIFCO Capital Limited. 

REASON FOR DECISION 

3.3 To provide appropriate governance and performance monitoring for the 
operation of CIFCO Capital Ltd for the 2019/2020 period. 

 

4. KEY INFORMATION 

4.1 CIFCO Capital Ltd has been trading since 2017 and as such this is the third annual 
business plan for the company. Over the last 12 months CIFCO has completed the 
first phase of investment and now holds 12 diverse commercial assets primarily 
across the Eastern region.  

Page 25

Agenda Item 12



 

The fully invested fund now has a rent roll in excess of £3m, which is due to return 
£2.33m to the Councils in repayments providing net income after borrowing costs of 
c.£786,000 for Babergh District Council and c.£676,000 for Mid-Suffolk District 
Council. The differing net amounts reflect the Councils’ different treasury 
management strategies. These figures are equivalent to 12.9% of income generated 
by Council Tax for the Councils and make a significant contribution to the Councils’ 
budgets. 

4.2 The year has presented a number of challenges, in particular the disruption in the 
retail sector and the growth in the warehouse sector, driven by the expansion of on-
line shopping.  This has meant that the Board has had to consider acquisitions very 
carefully to reflect this changing market.  In addition, it has proved difficult to identify 
opportunistic assets at a price which justified the increased risk of such assets and 
following advice from our fund managers, Jones Lang LaSalle (JLL) our acquisition 

policy has concentrated on the core and core plus sectors of the market, resulting in 
an overall portfolio yield slightly below the original target but with a more resilient risk 
profile.  The board continues to operate a strong risk management strategy and has 
in place an expert team of professional advisers to ensure that acquisitions meet the 
criteria required by our shareholders. 

4.3 In February 2019, the shareholder Councils agreed to a further phase of investment 
totalling a further £50m. The 2019/20 business plan considers the strategy for further 
investment alongside the on-going management of the existing fund and the 
company. 

4.4 The updated investment strategy for 2019/20 commissioned by the Board and 
developed by the Board’s Fund Manager (JLL) is designed not only to give strong 
short-term results but medium and long-term income resilience. CIFCO does not 
specifically target Capital growth and its projections are not based upon such growth, 
but a focus on income growth. 

4.3 This medium to long term resilience is based upon; 

   A current average WAULT to expiry of 8 Years 11 months 

 A strategy that balances the portfolio so that a significant number of the 

assets are ‘Core’ and liquid  

 A strategy that balances other attributes such as geography, asset class 

and sector so that resistance to medium and longer-term market stresses in 

any individual attribute can be mitigated 

 A company structure that allows flexibility in asset acquisition and disposal. 

4.4 The 2019/20 Business Plan contains all the elements of the previous Business 
Plan approved by both Councils last year. The Plan includes; 

 

 A review of performance over the last 12 months against key performance 

indicators together with strategy for the year ahead. 

 A summary of the full market conditions assessment and revised investment 

strategy commissioned by the Company’s Fund Manager, JLL.  

 The JLL market assessment upon which the Plan is based looks at the 

individual attributes of each asset class targeted by CIFCO including 

strengths and weaknesses. 

Page 26



 

 The risks of investment in individual asset classes specifically reflecting the 

increased challenges in the high street retail sector. 

 The business plan is not the document to analyse the strengths and 

weaknesses of individual tenant covenant. This is a matter for the Board in 

its due diligence as those assets arise in the marketplace and for the quarterly 

portfolio covenant review by Board undertaken independently by fund 

manager JLL, however the business plan does review the proportion of the 

fund let to different strengths of covenant. 

 The Business Plan incorporates high level financial cash flow back to the 

Council through loans. CIFCO borrows on a fixed rate so interest rate 

fluctuations are mitigated. Cashflow and operational finance is dealt with 

quarterly by the Board alongside quarterly risk analysis 

 In addition, the Board’s future revisions to its investment strategy are 

influenced by quarterly portfolio analysis report from JLL. This covers: 

 

 Investment Guidelines 
 JLL IPD (a UK benchmarking index) Forecasts 
 Tenant Covenant Log  
 Critical Dates Schedule 
 Individual Property Business Plans 
 Tenancy Schedule 
 Arrears 
 EPC Schedule 

 
4.5 The principle change to the investment strategy relates to the target sectors for 

investment which are summarised in the table below and largely reflect the 
challenges within the retail market and the intention to reduce exposure to this sector, 
through the acquisition of non-retail assets:  

 
 

Sector 2018/19 Target 2019/20 Target Target Change Actual 2019 

High Street Retail 15-20% 10-15% Decrease 17% 

Retail 
Warehouse 

15-20% 10-15% Decrease 13% 

Offices 15-20% 20-25% Increase 32% 

Industrial 20-25% 25-35% Increase 27% 

Alternatives & 
Other 

25-30% 20-25% Decrease 10% 

 
 

4.6 With an increased fund size the Board will also now seek to sub-categorise sectors 
to further diversify risk, for example the office sector of the fund will look to include 
single let and multi-let offices. 

5. KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (KPI) 

5.1 The key performance indicators were set within the 2018/19 Business Plan, these 
are set out below together with performance against these targets: - 

5.2 KPI 1 - Net Initial Yield (NIY) Performance against target 
 

The fully invested portfolio NIY is targeted at a minimum of 6%.  

Page 27



 

Actual - Initial Yield 5.75% Equivalent Yield 5.98% 
 
5.3 KPI 2 - Progress against 18 Month full investment target 

 
Full investment is targeted to be achieved by September 2018 in advance of the 
January 2019 (18 month) full investment target. 
Actual - Fully invested by March 2019 
 

5.4 KPI 3 - Distribution Performance against target 
 

The CIFCO Board has agreed an interest rate applied to loans of 5%. The CIFCO 
Board will aim to raise this to 5.25% by September 2019.  
 

Actual – 5% Based on the existing portfolio the Shareholders will receive gross 

income of £2.2m in loan repayments from CIFCO Capital, generating net income to 
the Councils £1.45m. This is equivalent to in excess of 12% of the revenue received 
from Council Tax. The Board will continue to review opportunities to increase the 
return to the Shareholders on a quarterly basis, however it is unlikely that it will be in 
a position to increase the interest rate during the next phase of acquisitions. 

 
5.5  The following updated KPIs are included with the 2019/20 business plan: - 

 

 KPI 1 Net Initial Yield (NIY) Performance against target 

 The fully invested portfolio NIY is targeted at 5.75%.  

 KPI 2 Equivalent Yield (EY) is targeted at 6% 

 KPI 3 Progress against 24 Month full investment target 

 Full investment is targeted to be achieved by April 2021 

 KPI 4 Quarterly Rent Arrears of less than 5%  

 Measured by the amount of rent outstanding at the end of the quarter as a 
percentage of the total rent due that quarter. 
 

6. LINKS TO JOINT STRATEGIC PLAN 

6.1 A resilient and robust business plan for CIFCO Capital Ltd will contribute to the 
following strategic objectives:  

 Investment in land and property to generate income and regenerate 
areas 

 

 Financially sustainable Councils 

 
7. COMPANY STRUCTURE AND IN-YEAR REPORTING 

7.1 The Board of CIFCO Capital Ltd (‘CIFCO’) is responsible to its shareholders MSDC 
(Suffolk Holdings) Ltd and BDC (Suffolk Holdings) Ltd for the proper performance of 
the company against the business plan approved by the two parent Councils in April 
2018.  

7.2 The Board meets monthly and has held 13 Meetings to date (between April 2018 and 
May 2019) to review performance of the assets and fund, make new acquisition 
decisions, appoint corporate advisers and put in place strategies and policies for 
company governance.   

Page 28



 

A wide range of approvals have taken place covering risk, performance management, 
governance, acquisitions, portfolio management, delegations and procurement. 

7.3 Each acquisition is recommended to the Board by Jones Lang La Salle, approved in 
the first instance by the CIFCO Board subject to satisfactory due diligence and then 
reported to each Holding Company Board for further consideration and approval 
before funds are released. No acquisition can be made without the approval of both 
Holding Company Boards. 

7.4 Each quarter the Chairman of CIFCO reports progress at a simultaneous Holding 
Company Boards meeting.  He presents his assessment of company activity during 
the last quarter and performance data relating to that activity.  

7.5 The CIFCO Board reviews its annual business plan and investment strategy 
continuously to ensure that it remains consistent with the marketplace and emerging 
risks and opportunities. Its investment strategy is developed with advice from Jones 
Lang LaSalle Ltd (JLL). The Business Plan is amended in full annually. The Business 
Plan is presented to both Holding Companies for consideration and approval before 
it progresses to both full Councils for final consideration. 

8. BOARD DIRECTOR PROFILES 

8.1 The Board of CIFCO comprises 3 non-executive directors, the managing director 
(who is also the Assistant Director for Assets & Investments) and two Councillor 
directors- one from each shareholder. Cllr Derrick Haley and Cllr Nick Ridley both 
served as Councillor directors on the board since its inception, Derrick Haley has now 
retired, and Nick Ridley resigned having not been returned at the election. They will 
be succeeded by Cllr Rick Meyer and Cllr Michael Holt. 

8.2 The new Councillor directors will be appointed by the Joint Holding Companies in 
June following the completion of the skills audit. 

8.3 The Board provides Council shareholder perspective (through the appointment of two 
elected member Directors and the Managing Director)  balanced with a strong 
commercial property industry expertise (through the appointment of three industry 
expert Directors not linked to the Council and the Managing Director who is Chartered 
Surveyor with experience in the property investment market). All Directors undergo a 
mandatory and externally validated skills assessment before appointment.  

 

 

  

Page 29



 

Directors’ Profiles  
 
  
Chris Haworth (Non-Executive Director and Chair) - BSc in Estate 
management from Reading University, fellow of the Royal Institution of 
Chartered Surveyors, and a member of the National landlords 
Association. Partner of Carter Jonas for 12 years, until August 2012, and 
Head of the National Commercial Division for 8 years.                                                                                                                                                                                                               

 
 
 
Emily Atack (Managing Director and Assistant Director Assets 7 
Investments) – Emily is a Member of the Royal Institution of Chartered 
Surveyors (RICS). She has approximately 20 years’ experience in both 
private and public sector, primarily in dealing with commercial property 
transactions. 
 
 
 

 
Henry Cooke (Non-Executive Director)- Investment banking 
professional with over 30 years’ experience in roles across research, 
sales, trading, structuring, origination, syndication and asset 
management of US, UK, Australian and European mortgage backed, 
asset backed, whole-business and real estate financing 
 
 
 
 
 Mark Sargeantson (Non-Executive Director) – Fellow of the Royal 
Institution of Chartered Surveyors, partner of Cluttons, until early 1991. 
Acted for a wide range of property owners and investors mostly in 
portfolio and asset management in London and across the UK. Joined 
Fenn Wright, Ipswich in April 1991 and was a partner until 2008 and a 
consultant to the practice to the present day. 
 
 

9. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

9.1 CIFCO Capital continues to have robust corporate governance, reporting quarterly to 
the BDC (Suffolk Holdings) Ltd and MSDC (Suffolk Holdings) Ltd Boards, who in turn 
report to the Councils twice yearly. The Councils’ internal audit team has completed 
a review of the company’s governance and found that reasonable assurances are in 
place, with all recommendations being adopted.  

9.2 CIFCO Capital has complied fully with all Companies House registration and filing 
requirements. Ensors are the company’s financial auditors. The Board of CIFCO 
Capital adjusted the financial year (previously running 1st July to 30th June) to align 
with the shareholders financial year ending 31st March.  

9.3 The Non-Executive Directors have signed service agreements laying out individual 
obligations. These agreements are aligned to the Company’s adopted Articles.  

Page 30



 

 
9.4 New and existing Board Members will be provided with Director training focusing on 

Corporate Law and Director requirements. The Board will be adopting a new director 
guidance code during the forthcoming year, which will clearly set out the 
expectations, responsibilities and obligations for all directors. 

10. FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE AND ACQUISITION PROGRESS 

10.1 The tables below show the income received from CIFCO whilst the first tranche of 
funding was being invested, showing each Council has received approximately £1m 
since 2017. The tables also show the movement of capital over this period. The year 
to date was calculated as at 16th June 2019. 

 

10.2 The CIFCO accounts for the year ending 31st March 2019 show a loss of £3.1m. This 
loss includes the one-off costs of acquiring the assets (including stamp duty and fees 
of approximately £1.5m) and an adjustment in valuation following the year-end 
revaluation. This adjustment in valuation does not impact the income return to the 
fund and shows a reduction in value of 3% across the portfolio.  

10.3 The administrative costs of operating CIFCO Capital Ltd for the financial year 1 July 
2018 ending 31st March 2019 was £246,000, the full year equivalent being £330,000. 
Administrative costs include professional fees, executive and non-executive resource 
costs. CIFCO Capital paid the Councils £50,000 for resource for the year 1st April 
2018 to 31st March 2019. Assuming a portfolio value of £75m by March 2020, the 
budget for administrative costs for the year 2019/20 is £500,000. The increased 
administrative costs budget reflects an increase in fees which are calculated as a 
percentage of rent and/or portfolio value. 

10.4 The Board has considered the merits of acquiring 77 assets, rejected 64 as 
unsuitable, submitted offers on 13 and acquired 6. The Board, with Holding Company 
approval, has invested in six assets between 1st April and 31st May at a value of 
£28,255,000.  

10.5 From these 6 properties, the company receives £1,714,771 in rental income per 
annum, bringing the total annual rent to £3,119,558 against the previously anticipated 
rental income of circa £2.8 million per annum.  

CIFCO (Babergh) CIFCO (Mid Suffolk)

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 ytd Cumulative 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 ytd Cumulative

Revenue Impact Revenue Impact

Interest Received (86)                 (782)               (300)               (1,168)            Interest Received (86)                 (782)               (300)               (1,168)            

Interest Paid 11                  119                130                Interest Paid 11                  235                246                

Net Interest (75)                 (663)               (300)               (1,038)            Net Interest (75)                 (547)               (300)               (922)               

Dividends from CIFCO -                     -                     -                     -                     Dividends from CIFCO -                     -                     -                     -                     

Total Revenue (75)                 (663)               (300)               (1,038)            Total Revenue (75)                 (547)               (300)               (922)               

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 ytd Cumulative 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 ytd Cumulative

Capital Movement Capital Movement

Capital Borrowed 12.38             13.71             1.17               27.26             Capital Borrowed 12.38             13.71             1.17               27.26             

Loans Repaid -                     -                     -                     -                     Loans Repaid -                     -                     -                     -                     

Gross Borrowing 12.38             13.71             1.17               27.26             Gross Borrowing 12.38             13.71             1.17               27.26             

Loans Made to CIFCO 11.15             12.34             1.05               24.54             Loans Made to CIFCO 11.15             12.34             1.05               24.54             

Loans Repaid -                     -                     (0.02)              (0.02)              Loans Repaid -                     -                     (0.02)              (0.02)              

Equity 1.23               1.37               0.12               2.72               Equity 1.23               1.37               0.12               2.72               

Gross Investment 12.38             13.71             1.15               27.24             Gross Investment 12.38             13.71             1.15               27.24             

Net Capital Movements -                     -                     0.02               0.02               Net Capital Movements -                     -                     0.02               0.02               

£ 000

£ m

£ 000

£ m

Page 31



 

This includes income from the first asset acquisition of the second phase of 
investment, excluding this the income the first phase of investment generates an 
income of £2.98m.  

10.6 A summary of the assets acquired between 1st April 2018 and 31st May 2019 are set 
out below:  

2 Eastman Way, Hemel Hempstead (Completed 17 July 2018) 
 

 
 
Situated in the established ‘Maylands Business Park, surrounded by similar uses and 
occupiers. The unit is let on a long lease to a good covenant providing secure long-term 
income. This property is classified as a Core asset.  
 
 
 
Olympus Business Park, Ipswich (Completed 3 August 2018)  
 

 
 
A well-located industrial asset in an established location. The units are well let to a range 
of tenants, diversifying the income risk Approaching lease events provide the opportunity 
to secure tenants on longer terms and demonstrate rental growth. This property is 
classified as a Core plus asset.  

Page 32



 

 
 

 
Westpark House, 23 Cumberland Place, Southampton (Completed 19 Dec 2018) 
 

 

The property provides a well let office building in an established business location in Southampton.  

Following the removal of the tenant’s break, the long unexpired term (7.9 years to expiry) provides 

a good income for the fund without exposure to capital expenditure. Paris Smith LLP provides a 

strong covenant with minimal risk of failure. The property is classified as a ‘Core’ asset of the 

portfolio. 

 

  

Page 33



 

 

Omron, Opal Drive, Milton Keynes (Completed 9 Jan 2019) 
 

The property provides a well located, fully let and recently refurbished office building. Milton Keynes 

has been projected to be a leading growth centre in the UK. A strong tenant covenant combined with 

a low rental base provides the opportunity to generate an increasing income for the fund, especially 

if the tenant’s break can be removed. The property is classified as a ‘Core’ asset of the portfolio. 

 
Lutea House, Brentwood (Completed 12 March 2019)  
 

The property provides a well let office building in an established business location in Brentwood.  

Long unexpired term (7.6 years to expiry) provides a good income, with fixed rental uplifts, for the 

fund without exposure to capital expenditure. Shawbrook Bank provides a strong covenant with 

minimal risk of failure. The property is classified as a ‘Core’ asset of the portfolio. 
 

DW Fitness, Lincoln (Completed 15 May 2019) 

 

The property provides a well located, fully let building currently fitted out for gym/leisure use.  

A good tenant covenant combined with fixed rental uplifts provides the opportunity to generate an 

increasing income for the fund. The property is classified as a ‘Core’ asset of the portfolio. 

 

 

 

Page 34



 

 

11. CORPORATE APPOINTMENTS 

 

11.1 In 2019/2020, the Board will work with the following corporate partners to support its 
investment activity: 

 JLL – Fund Manager and Acquisitions Adviser 

 Birketts LLP - Legal Adviser 

 Zurich UK – Corporate Insurer 

 MS Amlin - Portfolio Insurer 

 Aquilla Insurance Brokers Ltd - Insurance Broker 

 Lloyds Bank PLC – Corporate Banking 

 Ensors – Accountancy and Audit 

 Grant Thornton – Tax and Strategic Finance Advice 

 Workman LLP – Property Management 

 Knight Frank – Independent Portfolio Valuers 

 

12. RISK MANAGEMENT 

This report most closely links with the following Significant Risk: 

Risk Description Likelihood Impact Mitigation Measures 

4a) If the Capital 
Investment Fund 
(CIF) does not 
generate forecast 
investment returns, 
we may be unable to 
meet the income 
projections for the 
Councils 

2 3 CIFCO has now completed 
acquisitions for the first tranche of 
funding. The adoption of the proposed 
business plan will provide governance, 
accountability and a framework for the 
second tranche of funding. CIFCO 
activity continues to be closely 
monitored, together with market 
conditions and any changes or 
prospective changes in government 
legislation. 

 

 

 

 

Page 35



 

12.1 The Board of CIFCO CAPITAL LTD actively manages risk and considers the fund 
risk register formally at the Board meetings each quarter. There is a comprehensive 
risk management strategy in place which requires the Managing Director to attend a 
group risk panel each quarter to report on risk to the Holding Company Chairs and 
shareholder senior risk officers. 

13. REVISED BUSINESS PLAN CONSULTATIONS 

13.1 The Board of Directors considered the 2019/20 business plan at a strategy day in 
March with its adviser JLL. The Business Plan has subsequently been developed 
with the board of CIFCO and approved by both BDC and MSDC Holding Companies 
who recommend its approval by the Council for adoption by CIFCO.  

13.2 The 2019/20 business plan and performance report were reported to the Joint 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee on 1st July 2019. By a unanimous vote, it was 
resolved that the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee note CIFCO Capital Ltd. 
trading activity and performance for the year to end April 2019 and endorse the report 
and 2019/20 business plan. 

14. EQUALITY ANALYSIS 

14.1 An Equality Impact Assessment was originally completed in September 2016.  The 
outcome of the assessment was that the strategy itself will not impact residents, staff 
or any specific protected characteristics.  Funding for the programme is independent 
of existing revenue streams and therefore it will not impact the delivery of any existing 
front-line services. 

15. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

15.1 There are no known negative environmental impacts resulting from the proposals 
within the CIFCO CAPITAL LTD Business Plan 2019/20. 

16. APPENDICES  

Title Location 

(a) DRAFT CIFCO CAPITAL LTD Business Plan 
2019/20 (CONFIDENTIAL)  

Attached in Part 2 of the 
Agenda 

(b) Recommendations from the Joint Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 

Attached 

 

 

Page 36



 

 

TO: MSDC COUNCIL APPENDIX B TO PAPER MC/19/16 

FROM: Joint Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

DATE OF MEETING: 23 July 2019 

 

COUNCIL IS ASKED TO CONSIDER THE RECOMMENDATIONS BELOW FROM THE 
JOINT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE HELD ON 1 JULY 2019 

 
JOS/19/1 CAPITAL INVESTMENT FUND COMPANY (CIFCO LTD) BUSINESS TRADING 
AND PERFORMANCE REPORT 

APPENDIX A – DRAFT CIFCO CAIPTAL LTD BUSINESS PLAN 2019/20 
(CONFIDENTIAL) 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1.1 That the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee note CIFCO Capital Ltd. 

trading activity and performance for the year to end April 2019. 
 

1.2 That the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee endorse the report and ask 
that Council notes the comments made in the minutes from the meeting 1 
July 2019. 

 

REASON FOR DECISION 

The Committee provided scrutiny of the CIFCO Capital Performance and activity of 
the first years of trading 

  

APPENDICES  

Title Location 

1. Draft Minute – Capital Investment Fund Company 
(CIFCO Ltd.) Business Trading and Performance Report 

 
2. Draft Minute- Appendix A – Draft CIFCO Capital Ltd. 

Business Plan 2019/20 (CONFIDENTIAL) 

Attached 

 

Attached in Part 2 of the 
agenda 

 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



 

BABERGH AND MID SUFFOLK DISTRICT COUNCILS 
 
Minutes of the meeting of the JOINT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE held in 
the King Edmund Chamber - Endeavour House, 8 Russell Road, Ipswich on Monday, 1 
July 2019 
 
PRESENT: 
 
Councillors: Sue Ayres James Caston 
 Jane Gould Kathryn Grandon 
 Lavinia Hadingham Alastair McCraw (Chair) 
 Mary McLaren Andrew Mellen 
 Dave Muller Adrian Osborne 
 Keith Scarff Keith Welham 
 
In attendance: 
 
Councillors: David Busby 

John Hinton  
 
Chris Haworth – Chair of CIFCO Capital Ltd 
Mark Sargeantson – Chair of CIFCO Capital Ltd 
Rick Meyer - Director-elect CIFCO Capital Ltd 
Nigel Golder - Director- Strategic Asset Management, JLL (Advisers to 
CIFCO Capital Ltd 
Neville Pritchard - Director- Capital Markets, JLL  

Officers: Strategic Director (JS) 
Assistant Director - Assets and Investments (EA) 
Deputy Monitoring Officer and Corporate Manager-Democratic 
Services (JR) 
Senior Acting Governance Support Officer (HH) 

 
 
1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
 1.1 None. 

 
2 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

 
 2.1 There were no declarations of interests. 

 
3 TO RECEIVE NOTIFICATION OF PETITIONS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 

COUNCIL'S PETITION SCHEME 
 

 3.1 None received. 
 

4 QUESTIONS BY THE PUBLIC 
 

 4.1 None received. 
 

Page 39



 

5 QUESTIONS BY COUNCILLORS 
 

 5.1  None received. 
 

6 JOS/19/1 CAPITAL INVESTMENT FUND COMPANY ('CIFCO CAPITAL LTD') 
BUSINESS TRADING AND PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018/19 
 

 6.1 The Assistant Director for Assets and Investments introduced the Board 
Members and Advisors: 
 

Name Position 

Chris Haworth Chair CIFCO Capital Ltd 

Mark Sargeantson Chair CIFCO Capital Ltd 

Rick Meyer Director-elect CIFCO Capital Ltd 

Nigel Golder Director - Strategic Asset 
Management, JLL (Advisers to 
CIFCO Capital Ltd) 

Neville Pritchard Director - Capital Markets, JLL 

 
6.2 Chris Haworth, Chair of CIFCO Capital Ltd. provided the first part of the 

presentation which covered a summary of the current portfolio, the purpose of 
the CIFCO Business Plan, and Key Performance Indicators. 
 

6.3 Neville Pritchard, Director – Capital Market, Jones La Salle Ltd (JLL) then 
detailed the current market for business properties.  He stated that currently 
there was £65 billion transaction in the housing market, which had been 
slowed down by Brexit, but was now slowly increasing again as the market 
gained confidence.   

 
6.4 Industrial properties performed best, as industrial units were used for a 

multitude of purposes including mail order distributions units. 
 
6.5 Office suites also performed well in the market, and the view was to focus on 

office units and industrial property.  A good location applied to tenants and in 
combination with a long lease, would make industrial units prospective assets 
to increase the property portfolios. 

 
6.6 Nigel Golder, Director- Strategic Asset Management, JLL (Advisers to CIFCO 

Capital Ltd) then continued the presentation, including investment strategy 
and sector targets. 

 
6.7 The Assistant Director for Assets and Investments presented the Council’s 

capital and revenue in relation to CIFCO. 
 

6.8 Councillor Grandon asked why CIFCO invested in the high street retail 
market, when it was performing less favourable and if national retailers 
negotiated individual rental agreements for their branches. 
 

6.9 Neville Pritchard responded that the property in question was mostly food 
orientated store.  

Page 40



 

 
These kind of stores perform better than the other high street stores. The unit 
also had the potential to be divided into smaller units, should the current 
tenant serve notice. It was agreed that food stores were a strong asset to 
have in the property portfolio. 
 

6.10 Councillor McCraw reminded Members that risk management had been 
undertaken and that that this part for the business set-up had been 
scrutinised last year. 
 

6.11 Councillor Caston enquired if carparks were included in the respective 
properties with car parks and it was confirmed that in principle most of the 
carparks were included. 
 

6.12 Councillor Scarff was concerned that the increase in councils investing in 
business properties were inflating the business property market. 
 

6.13 Neville Pritchard responded that the investments that councils made were 
only a small portion of the investment market, around £3 billons of the £65 
billion invested in the property market. 
 

6.14 Mark Sargeantson added when CIFCO was bidding for a property the 
purchase had to fulfil certain criteria otherwise CIFCO would withdraw from 
the process. 
 

6.15 Councillor Welham enquired how optimistic the Director were in negotiating 
rent increase as there currently was breakdown in rents in the high street 
retail sector. 
 

6.16 Nigel Golder explained that every six- moths CIFCO had face to face with the 
occupiers of the propertied to anticipate outcome of rent negotiations. 
 

6.17 Part of the management of the portfolio was to look at assets to add value 
and currently there was no need to sell any properties. However, should this 
become a need the funds would be reinvested in other properties. 
 

6.18 Councillor Mellen asked how the Directors anticipated the effect of Brexit and 
the rise of the No-deal Brexit. 
 

6.19 Neville Pritchard responded that fundamentally there was a limited supply of 
good properties and that eventually business would be affected by Brexit.  
Some occupiers are concerned about the effects of Brexit, which had slowed 
the market down.  However, overall there the market had been confident 
during the past eighteen months, but matters were likely to improve once it 
became known how Brexit would be attained. 
 

6.20 The Chair asked if the covenants and fundamental income would be affected 
by Brexit and the effects this might have on the market. Nigel Golder 
responded that the fundamental income stream was predicted to be steady 
for the next five years. 

Page 41



 

7 RESOLUTION TO EXCLUDE THE PUBLIC (WHICH TERM INCLUDES THE 
PRESS) 
 

 By a unanimous vote 
 
It was Resolved: - 
 
That under section 100(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the public be 
excluded from the meeting for the following item on the grounds that it 
involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Act in the paragraph registered against the item. 
 

8 PART 2 APPENDIX A - DRAFT CIFCO CAPITAL LTD BUSINESS PLAN 2019/20 
(CONFIDENTIAL) 
  

 
The business of the meeting was concluded at 3.15 pm. 
 
 

…………………………………….. 
Chair 

 

Page 42



Agenda Item 14b – Motion on Notice received from Councillor Eburne - Appendix 

 

Scientists have long warned that hundreds of species are being driven to extinction 

every year. It is now understood that the annihilation of species is happening at a rate 

that means a “sixth mass extinction event”, unparalleled for 65 million years, is well 

under way. Prof Gerardo Ceballos and colleagues, writing in the Proceedings of the 

National Academy of Sciences, demonstrate that species losses over the past century 

are 100 times higher than pre-human background rates1. In this research, 40% of 

extant species studied have undergone severe population declines and lost more than 

80% of their geographical ranges. 

A new report from the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and 

Ecosystem Services (IPBES) also states that over 1 million species will be lost within 

decades2. The report points to the impacts of severe human alteration to 75% of 

terrestrial and 66% marine environments. More than 85% of wetlands have been lost 

and over 40% of amphibious species are threatened with extinction. These impacts 

will be severely compounded by climate change, with 5% of the estimated fraction of 

species at risk of extinction from 2°C warming alone, rising to 16% at 4.3°C warming2. 

The distributions of almost half of land-based mammals have already been negatively 

affected by climate change. Averting a dramatic decay of biodiversity and the 

subsequent loss of ecosystem services is still possible through intensified 

conservation efforts, but that window of opportunity is rapidly closing1.  

1Ceballos G, Ehrlich PR, Rodolfo Dirzo R (2017) Population losses and the sixth mass 

extinction. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 114 (30) E6089-E6096 

2IPBES. 2019. Global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the 

Intergovernmental Science- Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. E. S. 

Brondizio, J. Settele, S. Díaz, and H. T. Ngo (editors). IPBES Secretariat, Bonn, Germany 

 

 

Page 43

Agenda Item 14b



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 45

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 73

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 MC/19/11 TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 27 JUNE 2019
	4 MC/19/12 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
	9 MC/19/14 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT
	11 MC/19/15 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY POLICY
	Appendix A
	Appendix B

	12 MC/19/16 CAPITAL INVESTMENT FUND COMPANY (CIFCO CAPITAL LTD) BUSINESS TRADING AND PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018/19 - PART 1
	Appendix B Joint O&S Recommendations
	Joint O&S Minutes - 1 July 2019

	14b Motion on Notice received from Councillor Eburne
	16 CONFIDENTIAL APPENDIX A CIFCO CAPITAL LTD BUSINESS PLAN 2019/20 AND JOINT O&S CONFIDENTIAL MINUTE (Exempt information by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1)
	CONFIDENTIAL MINUTE JOINT O&S 1 JULY 2019


